NO. 69912-1-I

# THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CRUZ BLACKSHEAR,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

**OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court violated Cruz Blackshear's right to due process by admitting the complaining witness's identification of him because it was the result of an impermissibly suggestive show-up and was not otherwise reliable.
- 2. Mr. Blackshear did not receive the effective assistance of counsel required by the federal and state constitutions because his attorney did not move to suppress the show-up identification procedure as impermissibly suggestive.
- 3. The trial court erred in failing to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law following the CrR 3.5 hearing.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

  Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant a fair trial. Admission
  of an identification that is the result of an impermissibly suggestive
  show-up procedure violates due process. Was the show-up in this
  case impermissibly suggestive and the complainant's subsequent
  identification of Mr. Blackshear unreliable, entitling Mr. Blackshear
  to reversal of the conviction for a violation of due process?
- 2. The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant in a criminal case the right to effective

assistance of counsel at trial, and defense counsel is responsible for investigating the facts and law of the case and moving to suppress inadmissible evidence. Where the complainant's description of his assailant differed significantly from Mr. Blackshear's actual appearance, was Mr. Blackshear's constitutional right to counsel violated when his attorney failed to move for suppression of the impermissibly suggestive show-up?

3. A trial court's failure to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law following a CrR 3.5 hearing requires remand for entry of written findings. Where the trial court failed to enter written findings following the CrR 3.5 hearing, must the case be remanded?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 15, 2012, Cruz Blackshear was spending time with his friend, Heather Ray, near the Wait's Motel in Everett.

12/26/12 RP 50-52.<sup>1</sup>

A few blocks away, near Providence Hospital, John Couldry was walking on Colby Street, after visiting his wife, who was recovering from a surgical procedure. 12/27/12 RP 3-6. Before he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings consists of three volumes, which will be referred to by date, such as 12/26/12 RP \_\_\_\_.

reached his car, Mr. Couldry was accosted by a young man who demanded his money. Id. Mr. Couldry, who was, himself, recovering from surgery, stated at trial that his assailant was a young man in blue jeans and a brown or tan t-shirt. Id. He also stated that he was colorblind, and that after he gave the man his cell phone, he closed his eyes, bracing to be punched. Id. at 7-10. The suspect hit Mr. Couldry in the side of the head and ran off; Mr. Couldry went back to the hospital to report the incident to security guards, who called the police. Id. at 8-11.

About an hour later, Everett Police Officer Christopher Reid stopped and detained Mr. Blackshear, who was near the Wait's Motel. 12/27/12 RP 117-20. Telling him that he fit the description of an individual involved in a robbery nearby, Mr. Blackshear and Ms. Ray were both detained. <a href="Id">Id</a>. Mr. Couldry was brought to the area in a police car and told that officers had detained a suspect and they wanted to see if Mr. Couldry could identify him. <a href="Id">Id</a>. at 13. Mr. Couldry was also told that a canine unit had been brought in to track the suspect. <a href="Id">Id</a>. When Mr. Couldry was brought directly to the area

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Blackshear did not actually fit the description that Mr. Couldry had given, which was: blue jeans, light brown or tan t-shirt. 12/27/12 RP 3-6. Mr. Blackshear was wearing dark pants, a white t-shirt, and a black jacket. <u>Id</u>. at 17, 129-31. Mr. Couldry also estimated the suspect's weight at around 115 pounds, and Mr. Blackshear weighed 160 at the time of his arrest. <u>Id</u>. at 131.

in which Mr. Blackshear was being detained by uniformed police officers, Mr. Couldry identified Mr. Blackshear as the person who had taken his cell phone. <u>Id</u>.<sup>3</sup>

Mr. Blackshear was charged with robbery in the second degree. CP 72-73. At trial, defense counsel indicated in an oral motion in limine that he was making a "defense request to suppress the identification by Mr. Couldry as essentially an impermissible one-person show-up." 12/26/12 RP 23-35. However, defense counsel conceded that he neglected to brief the suppression issue in his trial brief or to provide authority to the court. Id. at 23-29. The trial court denied the motion with leave to renew, but defense counsel never provided authority, and failed to object to the admission of the incourt identification during trial. 12/27/12 RP 3-6, 11-14.

Mr. Blackshear was convicted of robbery in the second degree. CP 50; RP 128-31.

Mr. Blackshear timely appeals. CP 2-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A woman standing at a nearby bus stop, Sonia Rundle, testified that she saw a person resembling Mr. Blackshear approach an older man, but she only saw him ask the man for a cigarette. 12/27/12 RP 29-33. When she saw the younger man with the cell phone, she thought he was borrowing it; she never saw a physical altercation. <u>Id</u>. at 32-33.

#### D. ARGUMENT

- 1. MR. BLACKSHEAR'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS WAS VIOLATED WHEN THE COMPLAINANT'S IDENTIFICATION WAS ADMITTED, SINCE IT WAS THE PRODUCT OF AN IMPERMISSIBLY SUGGESTIVE SHOW-UP.
- violates due process when it is so impermissibly suggestive as to create a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. An accused person has a due process right to a fair trial, and this right includes the guarantee that the evidence used to convict him will meet elementary requirements of fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt or innocence. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 310, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297(1973). "[R]eliability [is] the lynchpin in determining admissibility of identification testimony" under a standard of fairness that is required under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977).

The United States Supreme Court has noted the due process concerns surrounding eyewitness identifications. Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (1967);

United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 87 S.Ct. 1926, 18 L.Ed.2d

1149 (1967). Courts have long condemned the police practice of using single-defendant show-up identifications because the very act of showing only one suspect infers that the police have already narrowed their attention to that particular person. Stovall, 388 U.S. at 302; State v. Hanson, 46 Wn. App. 656, 666, 731 P.2d 1140 (1987). Show-up identifications are not necessarily constitutionally impermissible if held shortly after the crime is committed and in the course of a prompt search for the suspect. State v. Springfield, 28 Wn. App. 446, 447, 624 P.2d 208 (1981). However, evidence of a show-up identification violates due process, if the identification procedure was "so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 384, 88 S.Ct. 967, 19 L.Ed.2d 1247 (1968); State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 118, 59 P.3d 58 (2002).

A two-step test is used to determine whether the identification procedure passes constitutional muster. First, the defendant must show the identification procedure was suggestive.

State v. Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d 604, 608-09, 682 P.2d 878 (1984). If the defendant shows the identification procedure was suggestive, the court must decide whether the suggestiveness created a

substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. <u>State v.</u> Maupin, 128 Wn.2d. 918, 924, 913 P.3d 808 (1996).

b. The single person show-up here was impermissibly suggestive. To establish a due process violation, a defendant must show the identification procedure was unduly suggestive. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d at 118; State v. Linares, 98 Wn. App. 397, 401, 989 P.2d 591 (1999).

While the courts of this state have repeatedly held that a show-up involving a suspect displayed in handcuffs near a police car was not impermissibly suggestive as a matter of law, <u>State v. Guzman-Cuellar</u>, 47 Wn. App. 326, 335-36, 734 P.2d 966, <u>review denied</u>, 108 Wn.2d 1027 (1987), commentators have criticized this belief in light of the modern evidence questioning the reliability of eyewitness evidence.

Unfortunately, the convenience of a show-up comes at a high price: the increased risk of a false identification. First, in a show-up, the risk of a false identification falls entirely on the sole suspect and is not spread out among six or eight individuals, as it would be in a lineup or photo array. Second, the way in which show-ups are necessarily conducted makes them incredibly suggestive. As one expert has stated, show-ups are "the most grossly suggestive identification procedure now or ever used by the police."

Show-ups are grossly suggestive in part because the sole suspect is already in custody and is being presented by a police officer. Evewitnesses often believe that when an officer presents a suspect for identification, the officer has caught the true perpetrator. Few people would think that an officer would show a suspect without truly believing that the suspect was, in fact, the criminal. Even one state's attorney general has conceded that show-ups "convey the impression to witnesses that the police think they have caught the perpetrator and want confirmation." Lineups and photo arrays, of course, are far less suggestive; if conducted properly, the witness will not know which person the officer believes to be the true perpetrator and, therefore, will not be influenced in the identification process.

Other factors also make show-ups highly suggestive. For example, when show-ups are conducted immediately after a crime and near the crime scene, as is usually the case, the eyewitness may make a positive identification simply because the suspect was in the area at the time and not because he is actually the perpetrator. Police can also consciously or subconsciously influence an eyewitness's identification by what they say and do and the manner in which they present the suspect during the show-up procedure.

Michael D. Cicchini and Joseph G. Easton, 100 <u>J. Crim. L. & Criminology</u> 381, 389-91(Spring 2010) (footnotes omitted), <u>quoting</u>
Jessica Lee, Note, <u>No Exigency, No Consent: Protecting Innocent</u>
<u>Suspects from the Consequences of Non-Exigent Show-Ups,</u> 36
Columbia Human Rights. L. Rev. 755, 769, 770 (2005) (discussing <u>Gregory v. State</u>, No. 93-SC-878-MR (Ky. Nov. 23, 1993) in which

the defendant was falsely identified, wrongfully convicted, sentenced to seventy years of incarceration, and then exonerated seven years later). See also Margery Malkin Koosed, Reforming Eyewitness Identification Law And Practices To Protect The Innocent, 42 Creighton L. Rev. 595, 615 (2009) ("Indeed, improving eyewitness identification procedures may be more critical than improving other evidentiary procedures. When a forensic test is poorly administered, there is usually evidentiary material remaining that can be retested. Comparatively, when eyewitness identification procedures are suggestively and unreliably conducted, the procedure may so taint the eyewitness's memory that there is no ability to reliably retest the eyewitness's memory.").

In light of the modern view that single person show-ups are intrinsically impermissibly suggestive and have resulted in scores of wrongful convictions, this Court should reexamine its case law and conclude the show-up of Mr. Blackshear here was impermissibly suggestive.

c. The Biggers factors required suppression of the complaining witness's identification of Mr. Blackshear. Once the court determines the show-up was impermissibly suggestive, the court must then determine whether, under the totality of the

circumstances, the identification was nevertheless reliable.

Vickers, 148 Wn.2d at 118.

In Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972), the Supreme Court reaffirmed that a conviction based upon eyewitness identification will be set aside if the "identification procedure is so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of misidentification." Id. at 197 (citation omitted). But the Court found that an identification can nonetheless be admissible if it is otherwise reliable. Id. The Court identified a test to ascertain whether, under the "totality of the circumstances," an identification is reliable despite the suggestive procedures. Id. at 199-200.

The factors to be considered include the opportunity of the witness to view the suspect at the time of the crime, the witness's degree of attention, the accuracy of his prior description of the suspect, the level of certainty demonstrated at the confrontation, and the time between the crime and the confrontation. <u>Biggers</u>, 409 U.S. at 193. <u>See also Manson v. Brathwaite</u>, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977). Washington utilizes the <u>Biggers</u> test to determine the admissibility of an identification. <u>Vickers</u>, 148 Wn.2d at 118.

Here, Mr. Couldry's identification was not particularly reliable or accurate. Mr. Couldry's initial description to Everett police officers was a white man, approximately five-feet, seven-inches tall, and 115 pounds, wearing a light brown or tan shirt and Levi's; Mr. Couldry qualified this bare-bones description with the notable caveat that he is colorblind. 12/26/12 RP 58-59; 12/27/12 RP 11-13, 17-21, 96-99, 138-40, 153-55. Mr. Couldry stated that he only saw his assailant for a short period of time -- he did not see the suspect approach him while he walked to his car; the suspect demanded his money; he gave the young man his cell phone; he immediately closed his eyes and braced to receive a slap to the head. 12/27/12 RP 7, 17-21.

Mr. Couldry's ability to view the suspect was very short and occurred during a traumatic incident; he stated that he was quite focused on protecting his abdomen, due to his health condition, which distracted his attention from the suspect. <u>Id.</u> at 7. Mr. Couldry even testified that when the show-up was conducted, "it was hard for me to make a positive identification." 12/27/12 RP 24. Under the <u>Biggers</u> factors, Mr. Couldry's description of the suspect was not sufficiently reliable to overcome the suggestive identification procedure employed by the police.

The entire show-up procedure was designed to direct him to choose Mr. Blackshear, since Mr. Blackshear was the only person presented at the show-up, standing on the street with police officers. Mr. Couldry had been informed by officers that he was being taken to view the person who had been apprehended, in order to make an identification. 12/27/12 RP 13. Lastly, Mr. Blackshear did not even match the description given by Mr. Couldry, outweighing the description by 60 pounds, and even without the black jacket, wearing entirely different clothing (white shirt and black pants, rather than brown shirt and blue jeans). Under the <u>Biggers</u> standard, Mr. Couldry's identification of Mr. Blackshear was not otherwise reliable.

d. Mr. Couldry's in court identification of Mr.

Blackshear was tainted by the impermissibly suggestive

identification. If a pretrial identification created a substantial

likelihood of misidentification, an in-court eyewitness identification
is likewise inadmissible and must be suppressed. State v.

Williams, 27 Wn. App. 430, 443, 618 P.2d 110 (1980), aff'd, 96

Wn.2d 215, 634 P.2d 868 (1981), quoting Simmons, 390 U.S. at
384.

As argued, Mr.Couldry's pretrial identification of Mr. Blackshear created a substantial likelihood of misidentification based upon the impermissibly suggestive show-up. This show-up influenced his identification of Mr. Blackshear as the perpetrator, thus tainting the identification. As a consequence, the in-court identification was tainted by the pretrial identification and should have been suppressed.

e. The error in admitting the unreliable identification requires reversal. A constitutional error is presumed prejudicial.

Maupin, 128 Wn.2d. at 924. The State bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have reached the same result absent the error. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). The State must point to sufficient untainted evidence in the record to inevitably lead to a finding of guilt. Id.

Absent the identification by the complaining witness of Mr. Blackshear as his assailant, there was insufficient independent evidence proving that Mr. Blackshear was the person who robbed Mr. Couldry. Ms. Ray, Mr. Blackshear's companion, received substantial benefit from testifying against him at trial, as was

discussed at trial. 12/26/12 RP 57, 63.<sup>4</sup> Ms. Rundle, the woman at the bus stop, only saw the incident from across the street, and even if she accurately identified Mr. Blackshear, she testified that she only heard Mr. Blackshear asking the complaining witness for a cigarette or possibly saw him borrow the man's phone to make a call. <u>Id</u>. at 29-33. Ms. Rundle denied seeing a robbery or an assault, although she stated she was standing near the site of the incident the entire time. <u>Id</u>. at 29-33, 40-41.

Thus, without the show-up identification, there was insufficient evidence that Mr. Blackshear was the person who robbed Mr. Couldry. The error in admitting the show-up identification, as well as each of the references to the show-up, was not harmless, and Mr. Blackshear is entitled to reversal of his conviction.

- 2. MR. BLACKSHEAR DID NOT RECEIVE THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL GUARANTEED BY THE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONS.
- a. Mr. Blackshear had the constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. A criminal defendant has the constitutional right to the assistance of counsel. U.S. Const.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Heather Ray testified against Mr. Blackshear at trial, explaining that she was pressured by police to write a statement on the day of the incident, under

amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91, 96-97, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). Counsel's critical role in the adversarial system protects the defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 684-85, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 656, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984). "[T]he very premise of our adversary system of criminal justice is that partisan advocacy on both sides of a case will best promote the ultimate objective that the guilty be convicted and the innocent go free."

Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853, 862, 95 S.Ct. 2550, 45 L.Ed.2d 593 (1975). The right to counsel therefore necessarily includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 377, 106 S.Ct. 2574, 91 L.Ed.2d 305 (1986); A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d at 98.

When reviewing a claim that trial counsel was not effective, appellate courts utilize the two-part test announced in <u>Strickland</u>. <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Under <u>Strickland</u>, the appellate court must determine (1) was the attorney's performance below objective standards of reasonable representation, and, if so, (2) did counsel's deficient performance

threat of criminal charges as an accomplice. 12/26/12 RP 63.

prejudice the defendant. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687-88; <u>Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d at 226. Ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of law and fact reviewed de novo. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 698; A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d at 109.

In reviewing the first prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test, appellate courts presume that defense counsel was not deficient, but this presumption is rebutted if there is no possible tactical explanation for counsel's performance. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689-90; <u>State v. Reichenbach</u>, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004). The appellate court will find prejudice under the second prong if the defendant demonstrates "counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.

b. <u>Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to move</u>
for suppression of the impermissibly suggestive show-up. Mr.

Blackshear was charged with a robbery that occurred on October
15, 2012; the show-up took place within an hour of the robbery on
the same date. CP 70-71. The identification procedure was
described in the affidavit of probable cause, dated November 2,
2012. <u>Id</u>. The complaining witness, Mr. Couldry, gave an
incomplete and inaccurate description of his assailant, which did
not match Mr. Blackshear -- the individual who was later picked in

the show-up and charged with the robbery. 12/26/12 RP 58-59; 12/27/12 RP 11-14, 17-21, 96-99, 117-20, 153-55. Nevertheless, despite receiving notice of the show-up, defense counsel failed to file a CrR 3.6 motion to suppress the identification procedure.

Generally, appellate courts give deference to the performance of a trial attorney before finding it deficient, as there are countless decisions that may appear unreasonable in hindsight, but at the time were based upon a legitimate trial strategy or tactical reason. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. There can be no legitimate tactical explanation, however, for counsel's failure to bring a plausible motion to suppress an identification procedure that was impermissibly suggestive. See Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d at 130-31 (no conceivable tactical reason to fail to move to suppress critical evidence in search warrant case); State v.

Meckelson, 133 Wn. App. 431, 436, 135 P.3d 991 (2006) (no tactical reason to fail to move to suppress evidence obtained as result of pretextual stop).

Failure to bring a plausible motion to suppress is deemed ineffective if it appears that a motion would likely have been successful if brought. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d at 130-31;

Meckelson, 133 Wn. App. at 436. Here, the complaining witness,

Mr. Couldry, testified that when he was driven to the location where Mr. Blackshear had been detained, "it was hard for me to make a positive identification." 12/27/12 RP 24. As discussed above, under the <u>Biggers</u> factors, Mr. Couldry's description of the suspect was not sufficiently reliable to overcome the suggestive identification procedure employed by the police. 409 U.S. at 193. Under these circumstances, the trial judge likely would have suppressed the show-up identification in this case, had defense counsel brought a proper suppression motion.

Further, it is clear from the record that defense counsel's attention was drawn to the suppression issue, and that his decision not to brief the issue or to litigate suppression was not tactical.

See, e.g., State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 336-37, 899 P.2d 1251(1995) (because of the presumption of effective representation, defense must show in the record the absence of tactical reasons supporting the challenged conduct by counsel). Here, defense counsel made an oral motion to suppress the showup on the day of trial. 12/26/12 RP 23-25, 27-29. When the court inquired why defense counsel had not briefed the issue, he apologized and stated only that he had not had the opportunity to interview the complaining witness until after he had already drafted

his trial brief. 12/26/12 RP 23-25, 27-29. Then defense counsel stated that he "apologize[d] for not having been able to brief" the issue, and promised to provide case law supporting his position to the court, since "I don't have authority for the Court [today]." <u>Id</u>. at 28. The defense requested "leave to address this" before the show-up was introduced; however, authority was never provided, and a motion to suppress was never filed on behalf of Mr. Blackshear. <u>Id</u>. During trial, when the complaining witness testified about the show-up procedure, defense counsel failed to object.

Accordingly, Mr. Blackshear's attorney's failure to challenge the show-up constitutes constitutionally deficient performance.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88; Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d at 130-31; Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226.

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