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

III. ARGUMENT 

A. THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE THE ISSUE 
RELATING TO SUPPRESSION OF IDENTIFICATION EVIDENCE. 

1. The Defendant Waived The Suppression Issue By Failing To 
Timely Raise It. 

Defense counsel filed a trial brief setting out the pretrial 

motions he intended to argue, including authority to support his 

motions. Those motions included a motion to preclude police 

officers from testifying to what witnesses told those officers 

regarding the details identifying the defendant unless those 

witnesses testified at trial. 1 CP 66-69; 1 RP 14-19. Those 

motions did not include a challenge Mr. Couldry's identification of 

the defendant at the show up or in trial. Nevertheless, without prior 

notice to the State or the Court, and without any citation to authority 

or briefing, defense counsel sought to suppress Mr. Couldry's 

identification as the product of "an impermissible one-person show 
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up." 1 RP 24-25. The State objected to the court hearing the 

untimely suppression motion. 1 RP 26-27. The court noted that 

the defense had not provided the court with any authority to support 

its position, nor had it given the State an opportunity to respond. It 

therefore denied the motion without prejudice to renew if the 

defense had any authority to support its position. 1 RP 28. 

The defendant now argues the trial court erred when it 

denied his motion to suppress Mr. Couldry's identification of him. 

As discussed below this issue is a fact specific inquiry. Although 

the defense nominally raised the issue in the trial court, this Court 

should nonetheless treat the issue as waived. 

The Court has provided a specific procedure to suppress 

identification evidence in CrR 3.6. Pursuant to that rule the 

defendant must file a motion to suppress in writing, "supported by 

an affidavit or document setting forth the facts the moving party 

anticipates will be elicited at a hearing, and a memorandum of 

authorities in support of that motion." Id. The motion must be 

made timely or it is waived. State v. Burnley, 80 Wn. App. 571,910 

P .2d 1294 (1996). Here, the trial court was denied the opportunity 

to rule on the motion because the defense failed to provide the 

court with any authority or facts on which to decide the suppression 
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motion. In effect, simply stating the theory on which it sought 

suppression was insufficient to serve the purpose behind the waiver 

rule adopted by this State. 

2. Under The Circumstances Of This Case If The Issue Was 
Not Outright Waived, Then The Standard For Review Set Out In 
RAP 2.S(a)(3) Should Apply. 

This case presents an unusual situation because the 

defendant did not fail the raise the issue at all, or even failed to 

raise it until after the State presented its case, as in Burnley. 

Instead he inadequately raised it at the eleventh hour as the 

testimonial phase of the trial was about to begin. If this Court finds 

the defendant did not waive the issue for purposes of CrR 3.6, then 

whether this Court should address the suppression question should 

be determined pursuant to RAP 2.5. 

Generally an appellate court will not consider issues raised 

for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a), State v. Kirkman, 159 

Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P .3d 125 (2007). The policy underlying the 

rule is to '''encourage[e] the efficient use of judicial resources. The 

appellate courts will not sanction a party's failure to point out at trial 

an error which the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have 

been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a consequent new 
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trial." State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009), 

quoting, State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). 

The Court may consider an issue for the first time on appeal 

if it is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 

2.5(a)(3). Manifest requires a showing of actual prejudice. 

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 935. ""'Essential to this determination is a 

plausible showing by the defendant that the asserted error had 

practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case."'" 19.. 

quoting, State v. WWJ Corp, 138 Wn.2d 595, 602, 980 P.2d 1257 

(1999). To determine if there was actual prejudice the court 

focusses on "whether the error is so obvious on the record that the 

error warrants appellate review." State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 

99-100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). Actual prejudice is demonstrated 

when the defendant establishes from an adequate record that the 

trial court would have granted the suppression motion had it been 

made. State v. Abuan, 161 Wn. App. 135, 146,257 P.3d 1 (2011). 

a. The Claimed Error Involves A Constitutional Question. It Is 
Not A Manifest Error. 

A procedure which creates the likelihood that the defendant 

will be misidentified violates his right to Due Process. Neil v. 

Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 198, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972). 
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Thus the defendant has raised a constitutional issue. The issue is 

not manifest however for two reasons. First the record does not 

contain all the circumstances that would bear on the question. 

Second, even on the existing record, the trial court would not have 

likely granted the suppression motion. 

u[T]he admission of evidence of a show-up without more 

does not violate due process." lQ. at 198-99. A defendant who 

seeks to suppress pretrial and in court identification evidence must 

first show that the identification was unnecessarily suggestive. 

Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 302, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 

1199 (1967), abrogation on other grounds recognized, Harper v. 

Virginia Department of Taxation, 509 U.S 86, 113 S.Ct. 2510, 125 

L.Ed.2d 74 (1993). If he fails to meet this burden then the inquiry 

ends. State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91,118,59 P.3d 58 (2002). 

If he meets this burden then the court considers whether, 

under the totality of the circumstances, the suggestiveness resulted 

in a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Manson v. 

Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 

(1977). To make that determination the court considers five factors: 

(1) the witnesses' opportunity to view the criminal at the time of the 

crime, (2) the witnesses' degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the 

9 



prior description given by the witness, (4) the level of certainty 

demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length 

of time between the crime and the confrontation. Id. Neil v. 

Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199-200. 

An identification procedure which in essence tells the 

witness "this is the man" is impermissibly suggestive. Foster v. 

California, 394 U.S. 440, 443, 89 S.Ct. 1127, 22 L.Ed.2d 402 

(1969). This standard was met in Foster. There the witness was 

shown to the defendant three times. The witness did not identify the 

defendant until after a second line up in which he was the only 

person the witness had repeatedly been shown. In a first line up 

the defendant's appearance was significantly different from the 

other two men. The witness did not positively identify the 

defendant in that line up or in a subsequent one-to-one 

confrontation. Id. at 443. 

In contrast "[s]howups held shortly after a crime is committed 

and in the course of a prompt search for the suspect have been 

found to be permissible." State v. Booth, 36 Wn. App. 66, 71, 671 

P.2d 1218 (1983). See also, State v. Rogers, 44 Wn App. 510, 

515,722 P.2d 1349 (1986). Thus, a show up where the defendant 

was placed in close proximity to police officers and a police car was 
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not unnecessarily suggestive. State v. Guzman-Cuellar, 47 Wn. 

App. 326, 336, 734 P.2d 966 (1987). Nor was the procedure 

unnecessarily suggestive when the witness was nervous or the 

suspect appeared in handcuffs or in a police car. United States v. 

Hines, 455 F.2d 1317, 1329 (D.C. Cir. 1971), cert denied, 406 U.S. 

969 (1972). 

Here the evidence presented at a suppression hearing would 

likely be more detailed than that presented at trial. At trial the 

prosecutor was able to rely on other evidence that identified the 

defendant as the robber. That evidence included the other two 

witnesses' testimony, as well as the result of the dog track. At a 

suppression hearing that other evidence would not be relevant to 

the question of whether the show-up presented a substantial 

likelihood of irreparable misidentification by Mr. Couldry. Thus at a 

suppression hearing the prosecutor would have had more incentive 

to introduce all of the details that Mr. Couldry gave police when 

describing the defendant in order to show that his description of the 

robber was accurate. Those details could include hair length and 

color, as well as facial hair. It could also include evidence 

regarding how Mr. Couldry's admitted colorblind ness affected his 

ability to perceive colors. None of that was brought out at trial 
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however, because it was unnecessary to establish the defendant 

was the robber2. Where the record is not sufficient to show that a 

suppression motion would have been successful the defendant fails 

to show the requisite prejudice to justify review. State v. 

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 

Even on this record however, there is reason to believe the 

trial court would not have granted the suppression motion. The 

show-up procedure occurred within less than one hour after the 

robbery occurred as a result of a police canvass of the area based 

on a description of the defendant and Ms. Ray given by Mr. Couldry 

and Ms. Rundle. The defendant was standing near police officers, 

but had not been handcuffed. Before the show-up the police did 

not indicate to Mr. Couldry that the defendant was in fact the 

person who robbed him. Rather the officer phrased the request to 

accompany police to the defendant's location in open ended terms, 

leaving open the possibility that the defendant was not the person 

who committed the crime. Mr. Couldry testified that he did not 

2 Mr. Couldry could not articulate any additional details that he gave 
police at the time he reported the crime. 2 RP 27. His memory may have been 
affected by the lapse of time between the robbery and trial. However the police 
may have been able to present evidence at the CrR 3.6 hearing regarding 
additional details that Mr. Couldry gave them, and that had been recorded in their 
police reports. That evidence may have been admissible at a pre-trial hearing, 
whereas it would not have been admissible at trial. ER 802, ER 1101. 
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necessarily expect that the person who police had detained was the 

person who robbed him 2 RP 12-14, 24,137-140. The police dog's 

indication that the defendant was the person the dog had tracked 

did not give Mr. Couldry any clue that "this is the man" because it 

occurred after Mr. Couldry identified the defendant. 2 RP 25. Given 

these circumstances the defendant fails to show that the show-up 

procedure used here was impermissibly suggestive. 

Application of the Biggers factors further supports the 

conclusion that a suppression motion would have been 

unsuccessful. The length of time between the robbery and the 

show-up was very short. Mr. Couldry was face to face in close 

enough proximity to the defendant that the defendant was able to 

strike Mr. Couldry when the robbery occurred. Mr. Couldry paid 

attention to the defendant's facial features, testifying that given the 

circumstances "that face just gets implanted in the back of your 

brain" and that "I never forget a face." 2 RP 27-28. 

The defendant primarily relies on discrepancies between Mr. 

Couldry's original description of the man who robbed him and the 

defendant's appearance to argue that the show-up was 

impermissibly suggestive. Mr. Couldry described the defendant as 

a young white male wearing a tan T-shirt and levis or blue jeans. 
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Ms. Ray described him wearing "a faded out white T-shirt, black 

pants too big for him, a black jacket." 1 RP 53; 2 RP 13, 97. The 

only real difference between Mr. Couldry's original description and 

the defendant's appearance at the time of the show up was the 

jacket the defendant had put on after the robbery. The kind of 

clothing he wore underneath the jacket was the same as that 

described by Mr. Couldry. The possible differences in color may be 

attributed to Mr. Couldry's colorblindness. But that distinction alone 

is not enough to conclude there was a likelihood of irreparable 

misidentification when all of the other circumstances are taken into 

account. 

b. Even If There Is a Basis on Which to Conclude the Trial 
Court Might Have Granted the Suppression Motion, Admission 
Of the Victim's Identification Of The Defendant Was Harmless. 

If the Court concludes the defendant has shown manifest 

error affecting a constitutional right, the error may nonetheless be 

harmless. State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 

(1992). Constitutional error is harmless if the reviewing court is 

convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury 

would have reached the same result in the absence of the error. 

State v. Watt, 160 Wn.2d 626, 644,160 P.3d 640 (2007). The Court 

has adopted the "overwhelming untainted evidence" test. Under 
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that test the court looks only at the untainted evidence to determine 

if it is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. 

kl at 644-645, State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426,705 P.2d 1182 

(1985), cert denied, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986). 

If Mr. Couldry's out of court and in court identification had